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“The Greatest Spy by John Harte is a true espionage mystery that reads like a detective story. It is about the real-life hero of Britain’s Secret Service, code-named Sidney Reilly.


The story takes readers on a thrilling ride across Germany, Russia, Mongolia, and Japan, where he is sent by his controller in London. The author finally answers the question which had stumped previous biographers as to what happened to Reilly after he vanished in Soviet Russia in 1925. But one question still remains—was he a British hero or a foreign traitor: a double-spy working for the KGB? This true story could otherwise have been another spy thriller about the fearless James Bond. And, in fact, Ian Fleming, the novelist who invented the fictional 007, based his Bond character on Reilly’s extraordinary exploits.”


—Arianna Dagnino, author of The Afrikaner
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Preface to the New Edition





This is the third edition of The Greatest Spy. The first edition published in Seattle in 2021 with a different cover was entitled Dancing With Death. A second edition was published in the following year with the present title and cover. Owing to the death of the first publisher, the book has been republished by Skyhorse Publishing in New York in 2025 to keep it alive. It is the true story of an extraordinary individual who believed in justice for all and became a secret agent for Britain’s Secret Intelligence Bureau. Since his first assignment was to penetrate the Fenians—which was the provisional name for the Irish Republican Army (IRA)—he was given the code name of Sidney Reilly. The Secret Intelligence Bureau was absorbed by the SIS, more commonly known now as MI5. Sidney Reilly became its most successful and renowned spy.


Since most of the important information about Sidney Reilly remained classified as Top Secret for many years, the earliest attempts to describe his remarkable life and exploits were confined to fictional romances. The first was a novel written in Russian by one of Reilly’s first lovers, Edith Voynich, called The Gadfly. He was in his early twenties, and she was an older woman, described as Anglo-Irish and married to a Russian forger. Their affair took place in Italy. Her romantic novel, allegedly based on him, was an instant bestseller. It sold 2.5 million copies in Soviet Russia alone. In order to have it published in the Soviet Union, Voynich had to conceal her intentions by substituting Italy in a different era. Its huge success led to a film in Soviet Russia in 1953 with a musical score composed by no less a luminary than Dmitri Shostakovich. He called it The Gadfly Suite. Voynich’s novel was translated into English and published in the United States and Britain in 1897, where it appeared in eighteen editions prior to 1920.


The second attempt to acquaint the public with Sidney Reilly’s extraordinary skills and prowess as a secret agent was made by author Ian Fleming, who came across Reilly’s secret file when he was in a cloak-and-dagger section of Naval Intelligence. His first novel about a fictional British Secret Service agent named James Bond, and known by his code name of 007, Casino Royale, was published in 1953. Due to its enormous success, there were twelve Bond novels, all inventions which xhad nothing to do with the real Sidney Reilly or his exploits. Twenty-seven James Bond movies followed—all successful, they played to audiences of millions. But information about the real Reilly was still unavailable.


Then came a television series by the BBC in 1983 called Sidney Reilly Ace of Spies. Although it was a magnificent production with a superb cast of actors and highly successful, it could only be a fictional entertainment lacking the essential ingredients needed to feature the real man and his true adventures. This book, The Greatest Spy, was written after a number of Top Secret mysteries were declassified and leaked into the public domain, enabling the author to fill in some of the gaps in a remarkable true story of audacity and heroism.









1

[image: image]









3

“Russia has always been a mystery for many westerners. The Americans, British and French have always misunderstood and underestimated the Russians and their allies. And because of that they have fallen for Russian deception and treachery for many times.”


—Latvian History (online), September 19. 2012.


Among the fragments of Ancient Greek poetry attributed to Archilochus, is a mysterious line which says, “The fox knows many things, but the hedgehog knows one big thing.”


—Archilochus (700 BC).
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Introduction





“HIstory Repeats Itself,” Wrote Karl Marx, “first as tragedy, second as farce.” His claim was born out once again by Russia’s unprovoked assault on Ukraine on February 24, 2022. Every day this conflict comes closer and closer to erupting into a Third World War, with threats from President Putin that it could be a nuclear conflict.


There was nothing farcical about the situation in Ukraine: the dead and dying women and children and old men, suffering from the constant artillery shelling and missile strikes by the Russians. What is ludicrous is the stance of tyrannical leaders, such as the one in Moscow, who grasp at opportunities for self-aggrandizement at any cost to their own country and others.


The true story that follows describes how “it all happened before” when there was a Communist coup in Moscow in October 1917. It was led by professional revolutionaries and resulted in a vicious and bloody civil war. When the Red Army emerged victorious in 1923, they drove an entire generation of Ukrainians from the Crimea and the port of Odessa. Millions escaped to Paris and other European cities and North America. Ukrainian refugees were forced to start their lives all over again.


Sigi had been born, half Jewish and half Ukrainian Orthodox, near Odessa in 1874. As a young man he studied chemistry in Vienna, traveled to Brazil, and met British army officers who recommended him in 1896 to Britain’s Secret intelligence Bureau (SIB). By now, Sigi displayed signs of the courage and audacity that would mark his career. He also developed a healthy skepticism toward the promise of authoritarian rulers to protect Jews and those of divergent political beliefs. In 1899 he received the code name of Sidney Reilly. By 1901 Sigi was working in a variety of British undercover operations.


In 1917, when Communist revolutionaries seized control in Moscow, Sigi quickly spotted a fraud. He saw that the coup was not a grass roots uprising to save Russians and Ukrainians from the tyranny of the Romanov Tsars. Rather, it was the imposition of another brutal tyranny, this time by ambitious adventurers who used manipulative lies to obtain power and rule through force over a bewildered 5and mostly illiterate population.


Sigi was appalled by the foreign Communist ideology and the ruthless government forced on Ukrainians and Russians. In 1918, he and a fellow Secret Service envoy were sent to Moscow to kidnap Lenin and Trotsky, and almost succeeded. They were betrayed by a Communist army officer, and Sigi was forced into hiding with a huge price on his head.


Now known as Sidney, his exploits caught the attention of Winston Churchill, and he became one of Churchill’s most admired secret agents. The rest is history.


Author’s Note


The Greatest Spy is a work of history. All the characters in this book are real people, and I have used their actual names throughout. References to archival sources can be found in the Acknowledgements.
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Caricature of Captain Sidney Reilly in his Royal Canadian Flying Corps uniform (SIS collection 1919).
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The Great Game







1 The Great Game



William Melville—known simply as ‘M’—gazed from his seat beside the open roll-top desk at the new young candidate for the job. He had applied as a confidential agent for Britain’s Secret Service Bureau. He was still a mystery to the Chief, who had placed a sheet of lined paper and a newly sharpened pencil in readiness at his elbow.


But where had this man named Sigmund Rosenbloom really come from? And what was the significance of his arrival in England at that particular time? All that ‘M’ knew at that moment was what little he had been told by the founders of Britain’s Military Intelligence. They included Colonel Kell, who was known as ‘K,’ Major Thwaites, and Sir Henry Hozier. It was a fairly new game for them too, in which complete secrecy was felt to be the wisest course at all times. In any case, William Melville was a sceptic who knew well enough not to believe anything they told him, since all three army officers were masters of subterfuge themselves. This was “The Great Game” at play between the British and the Russians for military domination—not to mention the Germans. But they were more interested in conquering Europe than the Afghan border and India.


The youth appeared to be taller than he was, because of the self-confident and alert way he held himself, although he was very young. Melville searched for the right word to describe his features: exotic perhaps? And, he thought, slightly sinister. But he possessed a charming veneer, like a chameleon, but with a more polished skin. There was something androgynous about his handsome features which ‘M’ could well understand might be engaging to either sex. The Chief noted that he was always alert, watching his interrogator as he himself was being watched, but with a very slight and disconcerting smile of superiority at the corner of his sensual mouth, which had cautioned ‘M’s military colleagues not to believe everything he said.


“Where did you find him?” ‘M’ had asked the Colonel sceptically on one of his rare visits to St. James’s, where Kell paced like a frustrated lion in his immaculate office which he used rarely in between assignments. He never visited ‘M’ in his anonymous den close to Victoria Station. Melville worked separately, and there was an understanding that, as far as they were concerned, he did not even exist.


“Top secret,” ‘K’ had remarked with a breezy smile and a nod of respect to the large framed picture of Queen Victoria on his wall, as he passed her. She had been 8young then.


He added helpfully. “I can tell you his name is Sigmund Georgievich Rosenbloom. He was born in South Russia, not far from Odessa, on March 24 in 1874. If true, it means he is only twenty-two. But a find! He says he is the son of a wealthy Polish-Jewish landowner and contractor from Grodno, Poland, which, as you will know, is part of the Russian Empire.”


There seemed to be considerable secrecy about the candidate’s early background that Military Intelligence either did not wish Melville to know or did not know themselves.


“In any case,” the Colonel said, “I leave it to you to find out in your own way, since you are the one who will control him.”


For some reason known only to Military Intelligence, they had decided that Sigmund, Sigi, Schlomo, or Soloman Rosenbloom was the right man to handle the highly complex and confusing situation that Britain’s government found themselves in at this particular moment in its rich and varied history. So ‘M,’ the pragmatic chief of its Secret Intelligence Bureau, had recognized he had no choice, since he had no other bilingual agent on his payroll. Efficient and effective spies were hard to find. Indeed, from his own experience, there was no such thing as a real professional spy. It was all trial and error that, more often than not, ended in failure.


William Melville was quite sure that Germany’s secret agents and German money were behind the fractious transport unions, the threatened strikes in the coal mines, the volatile Irish and Indian problems, the discontents and sabotage in industry, the more stormy clashes between the ruling political party and the Liberals. Even the women suffragettes had increased their own pace of violence with extremists targeting leaders they disliked, attacking them physically, and burning down their houses.


Melville was the first director of Britain’s Secret Intelligence Bureau (SIB), which was set up to counter anarchy at home, and sometimes even abroad. He was forty-seven, and had previously worked for the Special Branch and the Special Irish Branch at Scotland Yard. He was not an army officer like the others.


Although he appeared on the surface to be more or less typical of an English civil servant of the times, in fact William Melville was very different. For one thing, he came from County Kerry in Ireland. For another, he had worked as a baker on arriving in London, before joining the Metropolitan Police force. He had been selected as one of the founding members of the Special Irish Branch, created to prevent Fenians and anarchists from causing trouble in London with their bombs.


He had since been assigned to protect the Shah of Persia during his state visit to Britain, and had then been called upon to protect Britain’s Royal Family. He 9had already put plans in place to foil the anticipated “Jubilee Plot” against Queen Victoria. And he had begun to plan an aggressive campaign against anarchists by destroying their clubs and their underground printing presses. But he needed the right type of hard men as agents to do so effectively before matters fell out of control. Britain’s foreign adversaries were violent, whereas the nice young army officers who volunteered for Military Intelligence were too decent and naïve even to be able to imagine what they were up against.


Melville was a determined no-nonsense man—a laconic interrogator and briefer who seldom wasted a word—with impassive features, receding hair, and an efficient-looking clipped military moustache. Secretive, suspicious, and often silent, he operated in quiet anonymity to preserve his cover in a general business agent’s premises in London’s Victoria Street.


He already possessed a reputation for finding suitable agents, but there were not enough of them to deal with the increasing disorders. His mission was to keep a close eye on what foreigners were up to—largely meaning Germans, French, Russians and Poles, and Irish troublemakers, who were always plotting some destructive mischief. The required credentials for the right man now was a knowledge of several languages.


Britain’s Intelligence Services had, so far, found that most young but dedicated army officers possessed the wrong attitude for the job. What they preferred instead were strong-minded rogues, scoundrels, cheats, and mavericks, who got things done. They were skilled in finding them and keeping them under control. That was why Melville had asked few questions of his army colleagues. He preferred to listen silently to their recommendations and watch them with care, then spring into action in his own way. They were like sporting falconers—he, Colonel Sir Henry Hozier, Colonel Kell, and Major Thwaites—training their birds of prey and releasing them to perform their next assignment.


Melville thought he might obtain more information from Thwaites, who was always helpful and somewhat less competitive. He knew he would learn nothing from Hozier, who was the oldest of the three in Military Intelligence. He had been in the Secret Service from the beginning as a young Captain who had signed his official documents with a capital ‘C’ for Chief—thereby instituting a tradition to be followed by all his successors. He was now nearing sixty.


‘M’ never saw Hozier, who was also a bit of a mystery to him. All the press knew about him was as a business man associated in some way with the shipping insurance firm, Lloyds of London. It was excellent cover for a man who was always travelling somewhere on a different secret mission. Melville believed he was now in Panama, where an important canal was being built. All three had risen in the ranks through merit, but Hozier also appeared to have aristocratic connections 10with the ruling classes through his marriages to an Ogilvie and a member of the Lyon family.


Major Thwaites agreed to meet Melville for a brisk walk in St. James’s Park, where they could talk privately while admiring the ducks in the stream from the little rustic bridge.


“This new recruit,” the Major said, “is far too valuable to be stuck in a routine administrative post. Here is a young and energetic man who not only knows Russia and Germany, but can speak at least four languages almost perfectly. His German is flawless and his Russian hardly less fluent.”


“Is that your unanimous opinion?” ‘M’ asked cautiously. “You all think he is the right man?”


“Each of us interrogated him independently and thoroughly. Then we crosschecked with each other afterwards for any omissions or lies. We all vouch for Rosenbloom.”


“As far as anyone can vouch for a spy,” Melville said dryly. “What’s he look like?”


“You’ll see soon enough,” Norman Thwaites replied. “I’d describe him physically as; complexion swarthy, a long straight nose, piercing eyes, black hair brushed back from a forehead suggesting keen intelligence, a large mouth, figure slight, of medium height, always clothed immaculately. He is a man who impressed me with a sense of power.”





In no way did the candidate concur with William Melville’s own idea of an Englishman. But people in the burgeoning industrial cities, and certainly in London, were becoming more accustomed to mixing with foreigners. And Melville had sensed, even then, that chameleon-like quality of a breezy diplomat with an engaging and ever present smile of friendliness, which might enable young Rosenbloom to blend himself into whatever surroundings in which he might need to operate.


”Your father?” the Chief enquired politely of the candidate, pencil ready in hand, as if he’d only just been told and neglected to make a note of it.


“My father is a colonel in the Russian army. Fortunately, well-connected.”


Melville noted that the young man possessed a slight speech impediment rather than an accent when pronouncing a particular letter in English.


“In what way connected?”


“The only way that counts—the Tsar’s court.”


“And your mother?”


“Russian. Of Polish descent.”


“Your father’s family?”


”Landowners of the minor aristocracy. Catholic.”
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So already, ‘M’ thought, this self-assured and somewhat arrogant young man possessed two different identities—each with a different father; one Catholic, the other Jewish—apparently only one of which was known to Army Intelligence. And in order to join the groups of subversives in London and Manchester, he would require a third persona to fit in. An Irish one, since the priority of the moment was to infiltrate the bomb-throwing Fenians who had recently set a time-bomb in one of the lavatories of police headquarters at Scotland Yard. Fortunately, no one had been sitting on it at the time.


Of equal priority was the circle of Russian émigrés whom Melville had been watching only from the outside until now. That was how he had known when this young man had sought them out on arrival in London less than a year ago. He appeared already to know several of its members, including the main two suspects. She was the novelist Ethel Lilian Voynich. He was her husband Wilfred Voynich, alias the forger Kelchevsky. ‘M’ was well aware that Russians always had several different identities which they changed whenever it suited them to be someone else.


[image: This is a black and white portrait of a man with a mustache.]

William Melville, Chief of Britain’s Secret Intelligence Bureau (SIB), known as “M,” to whom Reilly reported.






Now he had to find out who this young man really was before he could risk trusting him.


Melville locked eyes with him. “What made you come to us?” he asked, innocently enough.


“Several reasons” the young man said equably. A rueful expression flickered briefly across his face. “I’ll do my best to explain.”


[image: This is a black and white photograph of a man in military uniform, possibly a general or an officer. He has a mustache, is wearing a hat, and has many medals and awards on his uniform. The background is a wall or a screen with a patterned design. The overall tone of the image is formal and professional.]

Known as “K,” Sir Vernon George Waldegrave Kell was founder of MI5 and first Director General of the British Security Service.






Melville said nothing while the applicant 12gazed for a moment into the middle distance, as if attempting to pinpoint a moment in time when he had come to an important decision. Even so, he did not blink or remove his gaze from Melville’s.


“I expect it began when I was only sixteen,” he said with an engaging smile. “Possibly soon afterwards. Or perhaps at university in Vienna.”


Melville was a good listener. He waited patiently for the story to emerge, as if ready to believe every word he was told.


“You must understand,” Rosenbloom said tentatively, “that I could see everything changing around me.”


“In Russia?”


“Elsewhere, too.” He paused to find the right approach. “In a word, industrialization!” He elaborated: “Imperial tyranny can no longer survive with industrialization. It is only a matter of time. Meanwhile, my father represents the oppressive forces of the Tsar.”


[image: The image is a black and white drawing of a man in a suit with a mustache, with an image of a pair of shoes in the top right corner.]

Colonel Sir Henry Montague Hozier. What Hozier did for the British Secret Service is still Top Secret. His caricature in Vanity Fair in 1883 mentions that he was Secretary of Lloyds of London—good cover for his clandestine activities.






“So you became a revolutionary?”


“A Social-Revolutionary,” he said cautiously, “yes.”


“Go on.”


The young man shrugged, almost without being conscious of it; but Melville knew it was affected, even though Rosenbloom was a persuasive storyteller. “There was a family row.”


“About politics?”


“No. We had already established our differences. We were already wary of each other.”


As Rosenbloom described it, the row was triggered soon after a family photo was taken in 1890, when the sixteen-year-old Sigmund Rosenbloom fell violently in love with his first-cousin Felicia Rosenbloom. She was the daughter of his Uncle Vladimir. Both families were horrified, and firmly forbade the match, which young Sigmund wished to make permanent. Already a self-opinionated and rebellious youth, he had abruptly left home and severed all connections with his family, to go abroad.
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“That was when I attended the university in Vienna.”


Sigi had found himself comfortably at home as a student in the cosmopolitan atmosphere of Vienna before the turn of the twentieth century. The Viennese Dr. Rosenbloom apparently kept a watchful eye over him, without his yet being aware that the medical doctor was his real father. He still thought of himself as the colonel’s Catholic son and part of the Imperial Russian establishment. That version of his formative years would be questioned later on.







2 The League of Enlightenment



Unfortunately for Sigi—or Georgi, as he was more often known as a nineteen year old student in Vienna—he became involved in the typical half-formed and only shallowly understood political life of other students, in which they questioned why there was such a huge gap between rich and poor and why there was so much injustice. Searching for explanations, he joined a fairly harmless socialist society at the university which was named “Friends of Enlightenment.” As with all such revolutionary societies in despotic countries, extremists joined and turned the society to violent protests and terrorism.


Hearing that Georgi was about to leave for Russia to visit his very ill mother, a member of the League asked him to deliver a letter to Odessa first. He said the letter was urgent and the Russian customs officials must not find it and prevent it from being delivered. So young Georgi sewed it into the lining of his coat—no doubt feeling important and heroic.


“Even earlier, I suppose,” he said sheepishly, “we all enjoyed that popular thriller by Jules Verne. You may know the one I mean? Michael Strogoff: The Courier of the Tsar.”


A formative book for that generation, Melville had thought, so of course he’d read it. Evidently Rosenbloom had identified with the hero of this exciting adventure story who dared to perform feats of extraordinary heroism that others could not do, because it required unusual audacity and courage. ‘M’ said nothing, barely nodding for him to continue.


“I was arrested by agents of the Okhrana secret police on arrival in Odessa, and placed in a cell. The police accused me of being involved in a conspiracy by revolutionaries. I continued to insist that I was innocent for a whole week in solitary confinement, and claimed I had no idea what was in the letter. I didn’t even know the person it was addressed to. As it turned out “The League of Enlightenment,” 14as it was also known, was listed by the Okhrana as a terrorist organization.”


Although his family’s influence prevented him from being exiled to Siberia, his mother was dead by the time he returned home.


At his mother’s funeral, Georgi found that his family were shocked at the disgrace he had brought on them by being arrested and imprisoned. He found the Colonel, whom he had thought of as his father, tight-lipped. It was only then that he learned from his uncles that the Colonel had adopted him to avoid a much earlier disgrace of being exposed as Dr. Rosenbloom’s and his own wife’s bastard son.


Now, with his mother dead, he was on his own. It was then that the ultra-sensitivity of his character revealed itself, not only in shame that he was illegitimate, but also in shock that he was not a devout Roman Catholic as he had always thought, but Jewish. It meant he was no longer part of the Russian establishment. He had lost his identity.


That, at least, was how Sigi Rosenbloom explained his troubled youth. What was true and what was false would come to light later on.


It did nothing to ally himself with his natural father whom he had always admired until then, but for whom he now felt contempt for the doctor’s adulterous affair with his mother and the way his stepfather had been shamed. On top of all that was the embarrassment and inconvenience of having his life suddenly turned upside-down.


In a state of shock at being abandoned by his dead mother and his stepfather, he went into denial of the whole situation and decided to start his life anew without any ties. In a panic from the emotional crisis, he faked suicide by leaving some of his clothes abandoned on the seashore. Then he left the family home in order to post the mysterious letter in Odessa, as he had agreed to do. By that time, the revolutionaries had already been lined up against a wall and shot by Okhrana agents. Once there, he substituted his well-cut suit for a workman’s clothes, and took a steamship for South America. He gave his real name on board ship, not his adopted one, as if tentatively trying out another identity to replace the previous one. He was no longer the Colonel’s Catholic son but a Jewish bastard called Sigi Rosenbloom.


According to him, his next three years in South America—mostly in Brazil—would be a training station where he developed many of the skills he would need as a British secret agent.


Melville had encountered similar situations before and concluded that rebellion started in adolescence when young men and women resisted the authority of the father. He had also come across rebels who were motivated by a fantasy of being born to grander parents, as a result of parental indifference or neglect. Even if a child only feels he is neglected, when he misses the love of his real parents, or regrets having to share them with his siblings, he finds relief in the romantic idea of being an adopted child whose real parents are noble or princely. In that way he 15feels special, as a man of destiny must.


It was left for Melville to decide how much of what the young man told him was fantasy, and what might be true. Evidently the rejected young man was searching for a new family.


Rosenbloom had paused for reflection.


“Go on,” Melville said politely to bridge the sudden silence in his office.


Rosenbloom attempted, not very successfully now, to depict Mother Russia and the Austro-Hungarian Empire as degenerate. He described the social and political scenarios of both as sick and decaying cultures with out-of-date traditions that imposed injustices on the masses, as the empires rejected modernity, progress, and industrialization of the economy. He described himself as a modern and progressive individual of a new and more democratic generation, to whom a backward-looking escape into the past had to be resisted and overcome.


“You in England,” he said with some envy, “were fortunate to enjoy a great age of Victorian aspiration and exploration, and economic growth, which the rest of Europe missed because of its backward regimes. British adventurers and explorers discovered new territories and new tribes and nations unknown to white people. They were generally young army officers seeking excitement and glory, while often also working to map particular territories for British Intelligence. They made notes of the terrain, its resources, and the inhabitants and their lifestyles. In fact, you would be the most likely person to know why Army or Naval Intelligence had sent them there.”


He paused again, as if he had lost direction and was inviting Melville to agree heartily, or at least show a flicker of interest.


In fact ‘M’ had no idea what he was talking about. Perhaps Hozier, Kell, or Thwaites knew. And this young man appeared to imagine they had conveyed some such information to Melville which they had not. But ‘M’ did not allow his ignorance to show by as little as a blink of an eyelash.


Rosenbloom seemed momentarily confused, and hesitated for a moment before starting on another tack.


“You must know about the expedition to Brazil to explore the Amazon about two years ago?”


“Why not give me your version?” Melville said non-committedly.


“I was told they were the first white people to chart the Amazon Basin,” he said hesitantly. “No European knew the terrain or its resources before then. Nor even the extent of the massive jungles that spread along both banks of the Amazon River.”


Melville reflected for a moment on the Amazon Basin, as he was intended to do. He imagined that, with the enormous length of the river, it must be one 16of the largest drainage basins in the world. He had some idea it ran through four different South American countries: Peru, Brazil, Colombia and Ecuador. He would look up the exact information as soon as possible to satisfy himself, as he always did when introduced to new intelligence information. He would find it covered an area of over 2.7 million square miles.


“When I lived in South America,” Rosenbloom continued, “I learned to speak fluent Portuguese. New languages come easily to me. People called me Pedro. Then three British army officers arrived. They discovered I spoke English, and hired me to cook for the expedition. Major Fothergill was the leader. I could tell he was a wealthy man, accustomed to having his orders carried out.”


“How did you survive in South America until then?”


“Mostly from labouring jobs. Like on the docks, and the ship-building yards at Rio de Janeiro.”


Rosenbloom stopped as if surprised that his interrogator would want to hear his story all over again.


“Tell me about the expedition,” Melville said. “What exactly happened?”







3 The Amazon Misadventure



“Well,” Rosenbloom began hesitantly, as if collecting his thoughts, “it was an ill-fated exploration from the start.“ He drew in his breath and began again. “The territory was hostile, to begin with—tropical diseases, poisonous snakes, belligerent natives who could not be trusted not to kill us, and dangerous wild animals.”


He paused to assure himself that his interrogator was satisfied, and continued at what he interpreted as a nod of approval.


“As for the safari, our bearers were soon persuaded to desert by local tribes who could attack us more easily on our own. A native guide was essential, otherwise we would be entirely at the mercy of the heat, lack of drinking water, and prone to get lost in the jungle, where we would be killed by the poisoned darts or arrows of one of the jungle tribes. Whatever we possessed was a priceless treasure to them. We couldn’t hope to survive for long.”


Melville had read several accounts of hazardous Victorian expeditions. Now he felt some momentum might be gained by making a minor contribution to encourage the candidate, who had paused as if unsure which trail of thought to follow.
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“The usual retinue of women, children, and slaves, I suppose?”


Rosenbloom nodded while recollecting what had happened. “Porters, soldiers, other paid staff . . . We ended with nearly double the number of what was originally planned.”


“How many?”


“Was eighty—grew to over two hundred.”


Melville recalled that the famous explorers—both Burton and Speke—had suffered from stupefying bouts of fever and other illnesses that reduced them to varying degrees of helplessness during their journey to the source of the Nile. Unable at various times to walk, to see, to hear, or even to talk, they had returned to England emaciated shells of their former selves. Soon after, an entire expedition of some geographer or other had disappeared while searching for a lost city in much the same area that the candidate described. Evidently Fothergill’s exploration of the Amazon Basin was threatened with the same types of hazards. He studied the candidate’s face searchingly.


“Our bearers deserted us,” Rosenbloom told him grimly. “Our native guide vanished after another few days. It was a region of malarial swamps and yellow fever. The British officers went down with a tropical fever that made them completely helpless. It was an opportunity for the natives to kill the officers while they slept and make off with their guns and equipment and all the stores.”


But, according to Rosenbloom, he had slept lightly and heard the sounds of natives crawling through the bushes towards them at night. Although still half asleep, he took hold of a service revolver and stopped the attack with his marksmanship in which he made sure that every bullet counted.


“One officer died of fever and we buried him in the swamp. But I managed to lead the other two back to Rio. Major Fothergill gave me a cheque for £1,500 for saving their lives. He also had the mysterious ability to provide me with a British passport and bring me with him to England. I realised by then, of course, that he must be connected with British Intelligence.”


‘M’ stole another look at the notes he’d made. “And Fothergill was?”


“An assumed name.”


“Any ideas?”


Rosenbloom raised an outspread hand to stop him going any further. “Can’t discuss—top secret.”


“Fothergill” sounded to Melville like Hozier. Colonel Sir Henry Montague Hozier had been decorated with the title of Knight Commander of the Most Honorable Order of the Bath; one of the oldest British orders of chivalry, which was instituted by King George the First in 1725. Hozier fought in the Second Chinese War in 1857, the Abyssinian War, the Austro-Prussian War of 1866, and 18was awarded the decoration of Knight of the Iron Cross when attached to the Prussian Army. But whatever he achieved for Britain’s Secret Service was still top secret.


Young Rosenbloom sounded like a good man to have at one’s side in a crisis—if anything he’d claimed was even half true.


Now in London, and back to being Sigi Rosenbloom again, with his good looks, charm and self-confidence, and his aristocratic airs, the twenty-two year old became an elegantly dressed man-about-town with plenty of friends. The private clubs of St. James’s appeared to be his natural milieu. Rosenbloom told anyone who asked him about his surname that he was German. His new friends began to call him Sidney.


Kell had assured ‘M’ that the unlikely scenario of this former dock labourer dining at the best restaurants and hotels in London and playing for high stakes at the gaming tables, and winning more than he lost, was all true. Gambling and young women were Sidney’s escape from boredom. He enjoyed living on the edge. Even so, he knew that banks always win over time, and his capital could not last much longer. The Major invited him to make a visit to Russia for British Intelligence. But the idea of returning to Russia was still too painful for him: it was associated with his disgrace and alienation from his former family.


Thwaites had added a footnote to the Brazilian trip and Rosenbloom’s arrival in London, about which ‘M’ was curious but sceptical, since boasts about women and passion were foreign to him.


“Evidently, with his last money, young Rosenbloom threw himself into another love affair with a woman a few years older than himself who was just beginning to make a name in London as a writer. She was born in Ireland but married a Russian. Her married name was Ethel Lilian Voynich.”


After a brief pause, ‘M’ had remarked thoughtfully, “There’s still something you are not telling me.”


“Lots, dear boy!” the Major said with a knowing grin. “It’s up to you to find out. But I can tell you the loving couple went off to Italy on Rosenbloom’s last £300. Once there, he was back under the influence of the Roman Catholic Church. He was a sensitive, emotional, and romantic young man.”


[image: The image is a black-and-white portrait of a young man with a cigarette in his mouth.]

“Sigi” Rosenbloom, most probably age 20 or 21.






The affair apparently gave the young 19Rosenbloom greater confidence in himself when he returned to England. The last thing Thwaites had told ‘M’ before he glanced at a gold fob watch from his pocket like the White Rabbit in Alice, and hurried off in the direction of Buckingham Palace as if he might be late for the Queen, was; “Voynich published a novel that revealed his early life, which she called The Gadfly. It became a best-seller in Russia.”







4 Home is the Hunter



Now, as ‘M’ gazed at the relaxed young man seated in a thoroughly self-possessed posture before him, he was reminded of the famous writer of adventure stories, Robert Louis Stevenson, whose death had only just been announced in the newspapers. It was something to do with the eager thrust of his chin. The author’s own words were carved on his tombstone: “Glad did I live and gladly die.”


Rosenbloom was one of those peculiar men of destiny, Melville thought. But his name would have to be changed. His own wife’s maiden name seemed somehow more appropriate—it was Reilly. He nodded impassively as he considered this immigrant to England assuming a new identity as Sidney Reilly. He could draw up all the documents to make it legal. But he hesitated. He wanted more information, but knew it would be unreliable. The question was how far could he trust this Rosenbloom, if at all?


The others had endorsed him, and expected Melville to agree to take him on as an agent. But still he hesitated. On reflection, he decided the hurdle in his mind was a cultural one involving the traditional tyrannies in Europe where he came from, on one hand, and Democracy as it was played out in America, which at times seemed to the British to be more like unrestrained mob rule.


“But Europe is not like America,” the newcomer calmly explained. “America will take care of itself in its own way. The dangers to Britain come from all the backward countries on the Continent of Europe with their old ethnic hatreds and their determination to kill each other.”


His remark struck Melville as being something more than a common-sense observation, perhaps because it echoed his own distrust of foreigners.


Rosenbloom added earnestly, “I simply cannot understand why some people will go to such lengths to dig themselves into a hole, and yet not stir to dig themselves out of it.”
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Melville waited watchfully for the young man to elaborate, but the candidate evidently felt he had made his point. It seemed to his interrogator to be the truest and most heartfelt statement from him yet. And it transformed ‘M’s perception of him from that of a slow and observant chameleon focused solely on securing the basic needs of life, into an agile-minded fox—a sensitive and constant hunter of prey.


‘M’ recalled a phrase used by Kell when they’d leaned casually over the rails of the tiny bridge in the park. ‘K’ said they were Hozier’s words after he’d interviewed Rosenbloom and expressed his own observations on their candidate: “A burning and ruthless ambition has been sown.”


What had Hozier meant? All he’d apparently told ‘K’ in explanation was that young Rosenbloom had sent him a long and detailed report of the political situation in Italy, before he’d returned to London, leaving Ethel Voynich behind in Florence.


“Europe has always been plundered and raped by unjust and oppressive regimes,” Hozier had remarked to ‘K.’ “Although Napoleon is dead, he’s still a figure of hope for romantics like Rosenbloom who despair at injustice and look for someone to take charge. They dream of how it might still be possible to lead an army against the forces of tyrants.”


Young men of the times read and were inspired by the memory of the young liberator Napoleon Bonaparte in popular novels, like Stendhal’s The Red and the Black. It was a study of the mind of a provincial young man of the same age as Rosenbloom, who was searching for his own identity and destiny, and caught between the power of the ruling classes who used the Church and the Army as instruments to oppress the people.


Hozier had read Reilly’s account of the complicated political rebellions and counter-rebellions taking place in Italy, which the young man had sent to British Intelligence. The old secret agent who played the Great Game so elegantly was impressed by Reilly’s report. It was of extraordinary value to the Secret Service, since the chaos in Italy and Sicily was difficult to place in its proper perspective and otherwise impossible to understand from Britain, which was fortunately separated from Europe.


There was also the financial crisis and banking scandal which resulted from Italy’s political instability. This intelligent and worldly young man understood its importance to international currency markets.


According to his detailed report, which was read carefully also by others in British Intelligence, Italy’s problems appeared to have come about because of fierce attempts by Sicilian Fascists to overthrow the traditional liberal left government, and attempts by the military to restore it. 40,000 Italian troops were rushed 21to Sicily, which was now in a state of siege. Anarchists, Fascists, Republicans, and their student sympathizers, were crushed by the Italian army, and summary executions were carried out on-the-spot.


Sir Henry Hozier and his military colleagues instantly recognized Reilly’s assets as a shrewd observer and analyst of current and foreign affairs, and his self-assurance and audacity in taking valuable risks to acquire intelligence information.


They now found that his attitude towards Russia had changed. It seemed that his experiences of the chaos in Italy had stirred up his own political or romantic longings and turned them into zealousness. That was probably what Hozier had meant when he’d said, “A burning and ruthless ambition has been sown.”


“How can we use your skills?” Hozier had asked Sigmund Rosenbloom during their interview.


Rosenbloom told him, “I want to return to Russia in an official capacity. Then I’ll do whatever I can to ferret out useful information and convey it to the Chief of Britain’s Secret Service.”


That was when Sigi Rosenbloom was introduced to ‘M.’ They studied each other in William Melville’s Spartan office for the first time, almost as adversaries. Yet each wished to befriend the other. What each began searching for was a key to the other man’s character. Now, ‘M’ was finally convinced he had found the key to the stranger’s character and motivation: he was distressed at the unfairness and injustice in the world. He had been drawn to Britain’s Intelligence Bureau because he hoped to find justice there.


Rosenbloom had met Englishmen before, like the man he had known as “Major Fothergill” and his younger officers. Englishmen in the late Victorian era were different from almost everyone else. They set themselves above the baseness and pettiness that drove others to envy, meanness, or hatred. Compared with the corruption on the Continent of Europe, the British must have seemed a more amenable family to belong to.


“Loved and reviled,” as Czech author Karel Capek wrote of them, “if you get to know them closer, they are very kind and gentle; they never speak much because they never speak about themselves. They enjoy themselves like children, but with the most solemn, leathery expression; they have lots of ingrained etiquette, but at the same time they are as free-and-easy as young whelps. They are as hard as flint, incapable of adapting themselves, conservative, loyal, rather shallow and always uncommunicative; they cannot get out of their skin, but it is a solid, and in every respect excellent skin.”


That observation may have been more measured than one perceived through more sentimental Russian eyes like Sigmund Rosenbloom’s. Another elegant writer, George Santayana, wrote of the archetypal Englishman of the time;
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“He prefers the country to the town, and home to foreign parts. He is rather glad and relieved if only natives will remain natives and strangers, and at a comfortable distance from himself. Yet outwardly he is most hospitable and accepts almost anybody for the time being; he travels and conquers without a settled design, because he has the instinct of exploration. His adventures are all external; they change him so little that he is not afraid of them. He carries his English weather in his heart wherever he goes, and it becomes a cool spot in the desert, and a steady and sane oracle amongst all the deliriums of mankind. Never since the heroic days of Greece has the world had such a sweet, just, boyish master.”


Britain’s MI5 and MI6 did not exist when Reilly joined Britain’s Secret Intelligence Bureau, so they had to be invented. The original Military and Admiralty Intelligence Services, generally known as SIS, were formed not long before Reilly was hired to infiltrate terrorist organizations in England, and then sent abroad as a secret agent to acquire top secret information in Germany, China, Russia, Japan and the United States; so that he made a significant impact on the development of Britain’s Secret Service.





Melville’s conception of an Englishman for Rosenbloom to use as a role model in England, would have been little different from a description written by a highly observant and articulate English philosopher: “Those who write of the English are generally favorably impressed. Those who find fault with the English usually condemn qualities that the English themselves condone—such as their coldness, which the English praise as reserve; their hypocrisy which they call compromise; their snobbery, which is decorum; and their stubbornness, of which they are justifiably proud.”


It was this coldness which had first caused Kell, Thwaites, and Hozier, to be hesitant about Rosenbloom’s sentimentality. That and his passion were considered inexcusable in their circles, and also in Melville’s. The leaders of British Intelligence were motivated more by their own hard-headed Anglo-Saxon common sense; none of this emotional nonsense which could be a weakness resulting in failure.


Nevertheless, it is recorded that William Melville recruited young Solomon Rosenbloom as a confidential agent in 1896 for several assignments in Britain’s Secret Service.


Since Reilly was to inform on an organization that Melville suspected was involved with Russian anarchists and revolutionaries, no doubt he could easily fit in by being himself, as well as with the Russian bourgeois group, which he knew Rosenbloom had already penetrated in London. He’d had him watched from the moment he had stepped off the boat on arriving in England the previous year. It was how he knew that Rosenbloom had gone straight to his old mistress, Ethel Voynich.
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Britain, in its open-hearted way, had welcomed fugitives from war-torn countries to find safety within its shores, and there were always some revolutionaries who intrigued, or even sought revenge, plotting and bringing their own foreign values to work in London with guns and bombs, and obtaining secret information for use against Britain by a foreign power.


Melville had his own personal connections with the German Secret Service, since he would have to prevent a plot to assassinate the Kaiser at Queen Victoria’s state funeral, which was expected soon, in London. He advised the Spanish Government on anarchists working on their own turf. Working secretly under an alias, he also operated counterintelligence and ran foreign intelligence missions abroad, sometimes turning up unexpectedly to clinch a deal with a counterpart.


Since Britain was balanced precariously at the peak of its wealth and power, with an Empire comprising over a quarter of the world’s population, trouble-making rebels could not be ignored, either inside the Empire or anywhere in the rest of the world. Territorial power created envy. Envy caused discontent. And discontented individuals joined disaffected groups formed to create uprisings against authority.


Nor could the British be ignored by the other three-quarters of the world, although Englishmen attempted to look unconcerned and feigned indifference to their success. Despite that, ‘M’ believed there was more than mere chance in Reilly’s arrival in England at that particular moment in Britain’s history. He knew very well that although the aristocracy were still the top layer of society, revolutionary undercurrents were stirring that could topple princes, monarchs, and even empires.


He was also well aware that, ever since the French Revolution in the previous century, no aristocrat, or prince or monarch, had been safe from the frustration and anger of the masses. And yet the royals had still not learned to change their arrogant, indifferent, or contemptuous attitude, or their resort to prison cells and executions for their subjects. Nor had the masses, with their hysterical mob riots and random assassinations, been interested in civilizing themselves. But he did not believe in philosophizing or in political solutions. He was a man of action. That was why he relied on his colleagues’ endorsement of this foreign spy.


Most Englishmen had not been mired in the barbarism and hatreds of the Continent of Europe, but their classical education had taught them the profound truths about the eternal frailty of the flawed human condition. Melville had learnt it at first-hand with the murderous hatreds of Catholics and Protestants in Ireland. Reilly had experienced the corruption himself in Mother Russia. Those who had been confronted by it knew that among all the tremors underlying society, the difference between those caused by idealists or criminals, heroes or traitors, partisans or terrorists, was impossible to separate; they were all troublemakers. Every 24one of their actions caused a reaction. Every tremor rebounded and continued to echo from down the centuries, creating conflicts between the elites and the masses, and leaving the foundations of the major European empires cracked and trembling.


That was the fragile volcanic background of conditions on the European continent into which young Sidney Reilly was thrown by his own fateful circumstances that would cause him to conspire with Britain’s Intelligence Service.


He had emerged from the huge Russian Empire of the Romanov dynasty of Tsars. But the same situation applied to the massive Austro-Hungarian Empire and the smaller but more powerful German Empire; not to mention the sick and crumbling caliphate of the Ottoman Turks. All of those societies were about to collapse.







5 Young Sparks



“Eddie is a very unusual young man,” said Winston’s aunt firmly. “One of those youthful sparks who burst into flame when their talents are needed. Well-read and already acknowledged as an expert of Greek and Latin poetry . . . He has written for the Cambridge Observer on the French novelists.”


“Heavens, not another child prodigy!”


“Evidently so.”


She had not exaggerated: Eddie Marsh was already acknowledged as a classical scholar. Winston knew from his own scholarship that nine-tenths of the traditional classical education was rubbish, but the remaining one-tenth was priceless.


He glanced up and peered across the drawing room to study Eddie Marsh’s features. What he saw was a somewhat foppish youth, still coltish, tall and lanky with broad shoulders, his fair hair brushed well off of an intellectual forehead. Eddie engendered an air of natural superiority. But Winston thought it not at all difficult to achieve in this high society salon, which he found sterile. But he was intrigued, and now understood why his aunt had insisted on his attending the soirée. He liked to have intelligent and original people around him who stimulated his own ideas, and he loved an intelligent audience for his sudden histrionic outbursts of oratory and wit.


More to the point, Winston was the newly-appointed Under-Secretary of the Colonies under Lord Elgin, and Mrs. Leslie, his aunt, had evidently invited him to scrutinize Eddie for the vacant position as his Private Secretary. Winston was one of the youngest Ministers ever to be appointed to the House of Commons. Now he needed a dependable assistant whom he could work with on affairs of state. And, as usual, the female members of his family, with their scores of social contacts, were a great help to him with introductions and recommendations.
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“I must tell you what has happened,” Eddie wrote soon after to his friend Pamela Lytton. “It’s so thrilling for me—the man who ought to be Winston’s Private Secretary is very ill and can’t come back to work for six months or so—and W. has asked for me! I’ve just been dining alone with him, he was perfectly charming but I can see what he will expect from his P.S. and it’s simply terrifying—all so utterly beyond my capacity . . . I expect I told you how much I admire him, so I shall do my best.”


Winston always made up his mind very quickly about people and never wasted a minute on anyone with a mediocre mind. He’d learnt to be discerning as a soldier fighting at the front in the Sudan, in India and Afghanistan, and in the South African war, because there was no time to natter when you might be dead in seconds and instant action was called for to prevent it from happening. He’d seldom been wrong.


He’d told Eddie over dinner, “Academics like you are still kept as sheltered from real life as ever, pointlessly pondering over unproven theories. You will never enjoy a life of action. But I will, because I am compelled to be at the very centre of it. And I can take you with me.”


Was Marsh a Nancy-boy? He could certainly be described as precious, as well as precocious. But Edwardians were modern men and women who accepted facts without questioning them. Respect for the privacy of others was considered far more important in England’s code of good manners. In fact, Eddie sublimated his sexuality in close and warm friendships with creative young men who were poets, painters, or playwrights. Wrote one of his friends to him after a party, “It’s not fair on young women that such an irresistible young spark like you should be about.”


Eddie’s appointment with his new chief began in 1905. He and Mr. Churchill had worked together and become friends ever since. While Winston energetically pursued his political ambitions, Eddie stayed in the shadows and watched history being made by the movers and shakers of the world.


Eddie, with his classical scholarship, and his chief with his sense of military history, were conscious of Britain’s leadership in world affairs. Both envisioned the Colonial Office as central to a panoramic view of historic and current events. They sensed that Winston was about to play a pivotal role. And Eddie, if he behaved himself, would accompany him.


Eddie Marsh was immediately thrown into the drama of politics, and was expected to keep up with the workload and pace of his new chief, who was about to contest the Conservative seat in North-West Manchester, which was known for its cotton mills and warehouses. He was particularly sensitive to the problems of working class industrial neighborhoods. When they walked to his hotel in a poor neighbourhood, and he pointed with his cane at the rows of grim and 26tiny row houses, he couldn’t help remarking to Eddie with compassion, “Fancy living in one of those streets—never seeing anything beautiful, never eating anything savoury, never being educated enough to think or say anything clever!”


[image: This is an old photograph of a man in a hat and boots standing behind a man in a military uniform.]

Private Secretary Eddie Marsh (standing) with his chief, young Winston, in Africa (1907).






Marsh served him well in his first test as confidential assistant to the new Minister, with the defeat of the Conservative opposition, and it gave him confidence to stay the pace. One of his functions was to hear Winston rehearse the delivery of his political speeches privately and advise his chief of his reactions. He proved to be a perceptive and critical audience, and a sounding board for his chief’s ideas. But it was only when he read his chief’s newly published biography of his father, Lord Randolph Churchill, that Eddie realized he was not only working for an influential politician but also for a man of letters with literary panache.


His new chief’s realpolitik ideas and experience were far broader and more profound than Eddie’s romantic notions of life, glimpsed from the accounts of Herodotus and classical history at Cambridge. While Eddie knew poetry and literature, Winston already knew the real world, had defied death on several battlefronts, and was an intimate of world leaders.


What Eddie Marsh did not know was that his chief’s mind had been distracted at that moment by dramatic and confidential information which had only just been passed on to him by Sir Henry Wilson, the Director of Military Operations and Intelligence at the War Office. Wilson had warned him of his suspicions that Germany was preparing for war against England.


Winston gave himself time, as he always did, to consider all the factors and their possible consequences. He finally admitted to his Private Secretary,
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”I have not, so far, seen any signs of war from Germany myself. On the contrary, when I was invited by the Kaiser to review his Prussian troops on manoeuvres only two years ago, I felt there was a lot of out-of-date posturing and pageantry with the cavalry, but nothing to be alarmed at.”


“How did you get on with the Kaiser?”


Eddie’s Chief smiled indulgently. “Frankly, I found the Emperor’s vainglorious preening and posturing quite laughable.”


His P.S. gazed at him with interest. “Did you get to know him well?”


“Well enough to be touched by his princely self-aggrandizement. And, what I thought of at the time as his stumbling ineptitude.”


“And now?”
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Young Clementine Hozier, now Mrs Churchill.






“I was younger then,” Winston admitted almost ruefully. “Not burdened with the somber responsibilities of the Home Office, as I am now. I was more focused on what political elements made for an orderly society in peacetime, like insurance and pensions. Bismarck had already established such things in Germany, you see. He was an extraordinary Chancellor.”


German officials were always scandalized by the familiarity between Eddie and his chief. They expected Herr Marsh to snap to attention and click his heels and bow stiffly whenever addressing his superior, as they always did with their own superior officers in a military society in which even ladies were expected to step off the kerb of a pavement to allow an officer to pass.


Eddie did not accompany his chief to Germany on that occasion, but remained in London to forestall his chief’s creditors.


“I shall be back Oct. 8 and not before; but if that does not satisfy them let me know and I will pay them at once . . . Will you send me the copy of Clemenceau’s speech against Socialism.” His chief was staying as a guest in Switzerland of the King’s closest friend, Sir Ernest Cassel. Evidently he had visited Paris on the way.


“I have today bought a lot of nice French books.”


The “nice books” turned out to be the complete works of de Maupassant, Balzac, Musset, Voltaire, Lamartine, Chateaubriand, Michelet, Sévigné, the correspondence of Louis XVI and Marie Antoinette, and Manon Lescaut by Prévost. Marsh added them to his chief’s already extensive library on arrival, to be eagerly devoured by his erudite chief on his return. Winston was always greedy for information, 28knowledge and ideas, and could never get enough of them.


While Winston bought books in France, Eddie Marsh bought contemporary paintings and drawings at London’s more modest art galleries.


“My dear Brooke,” he wrote to a new friend from Cambridge; “ Or may I say Rupert and will you do likewise? I have just heard of a superb John drawing which I shall have to buy if I can go and see it before it is snapped up—I have only got one, and must have another before you come, or you will think my collection stick-in-the-mud.”


But the main delight of Eddie’s leisure time was still the enchanting social life that his chief scorned.


“Beware of the Smart Set!” one of Eddie’s more outspoken friends warned him. “You can’t imagine how funny you look floating around the dance floor to the gramophone and fluttering your hands in the air.”


His friend Conrad went even further in his criticism: “The life you lead simply strikes me dumb . . . When you write to me ‘Lady X is a dear little woman’ I feel very nervous. Because I know she is a vulgar old bitch with the brain of a squirrel.”


Although the darling of gossips in London society, Eddie Marsh was faithfully silent whenever conversations turned to high political issues, and loyally pretended to ignorance, with an impassive face, if ever the names of his chief’s intimates appeared on anyone’s lips. He was completely trustworthy: there would be no leaks on his watch. Eddie Marsh had worked in the Colonial Office since 1896, and achieved a prim-and-proper reputation for harshly criticizing senior colonial officers in his despatches for any alleged injustices. He had been promoted in the spring of 1900—the dawn of the Edwardian Era—because he was so punctilious and likeable, and dedicated to quality.


Marsh had already developed a reputation as a connoisseur, even a patron, of the arts, particularly of poetry and painting, but also theatre, when his chief was appointed Home Secretary in Asquith’s coalition government. The previous Conservative Prime Minister Campbell-Bannerman had just died.


“He could be described,” said Winston, “as one of the last gentleman leaders to perform a selfless service for England before the inevitable onslaught of careerist politicians who will focus instead on their own personal ambitions.”


When Eddie Marsh was called into his chief’s office, six years after they had begun working together, he found him sitting anxiously forward from behind his desk, wide-eyed with a rueful yet impish expression. Winston had already become accustomed to being blamed as a maverick for everything that went wrong, even if it had happened before he was born. It had all been his own mischievous fault, according to the political opposition or the newspaper press. Now—to judge by 29the theatrical expression on his face and the telephone receiver still in his hand—evidently something else had happened that shouldn’t have, and he expected to be blamed for it once again.







6 The Siege



“Where did it all go so terribly wrong?” his chief asked from the seat on the other side of the desk as he hooked the earpiece of his telephone solemnly onto its cradle: “For England, I mean—not for me.”


Eddie gazed at his chief’s grim features, the downturned lower lip and determined chin. He was about to reply with a specific date, as was so often the case in researching for his chief’s books or speeches in the House, when Winston abruptly apprised him of what he had just heard about the violent affray in London’s East End. He had only just been informed by Scotland Yard.


Somehow, the fact that a violent riot had broken out in London did not sit comfortably with Eddie’s foppish gestures or his somewhat castrato tones caused by a disabling schoolboy illness.


But Winston recognized the news as a milestone of sorts in Britain’s history, and elaborated on what he had just been told:


“Three police sergeants shot dead by rifle fire when they called at a house at 100 Sidney Street, to investigate a burglary of a jewellery shop in Hounsditch.”


“The East End?”


His chief nodded, paused for reflection, and said “Stepney.”


“Is it in the newspapers yet?”


“Apparently only in the stop-press news so far. They call the incident “The Siege of Sidney Street.” And describe it as a political act by a Russian agent provocateur who is holed up in a house with other anarchists.”


“You mean it’s still going on?”


“Even as we speak. Can you imagine what the press will make of it when they set the size of the headlines on the front page?”


Eddie was aghast. “It sounds like something out of The Secret Agent.”


His chief nodded again, somberly. “I know.”


Improbable foreign conspiracies aimed at undermining society in London had been described in a popular novel by Joseph Conrad only three years earlier. Winston had read it, too. The story had been inspired by a real French anarchist named Martial Bourdin, who had foolishly detonated his bomb by accident and killed himself on his way to blow up Greenwich Observatory.
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Conrad, originally a Pole, wrote in elegant English. He had evidently sensed what was happening in London because he supported Polish nationalists fighting for independence from Russian domination. And, since the British Empire was the greatest empire in history, and London was its operational hub, this was the place where subversive elements of all sorts eagerly undermined Great Britain, as if every problem in the world could be laid at its doorway.


“We are being dragged into the nihilistic and violent era of the twentieth century,” Winston said solemnly. He made up his mind as Home Secretary in that instant, by reaching decisively for the telephone again and calling out the Scots Guards to assist the police.


When he hung up the phone and rose in sudden haste from behind his desk to reach for his winter overcoat on its hanger, Eddie raised a nervous hand to warn him not to act impetuously by appearing personally at the scene of the shoot-out.


“My dear,” Eddie warned him hesitantly and with a nervous stammer, “the press will c . . .crucify you . . . and so will the C . . . Conservatives.”


No gentleman would wish to draw attention to himself in the newspapers. It was considered even more vulgar than boasting about oneself, since it revealed a shallow and insecure character that could not be trusted. The Conservatives already scorned Winston for deserting them and resented being beaten by him at the polls. They were out for his blood and would not be satisfied until they trampled his face in the dirt. Why give them an opportunity?


That was not his chief’s reaction. “It’s better to be crucified for doing something than for doing nothing,” he growled.


“I’ll order a carriage,” Marsh said instantly.


So Marsh accompanied Winston to the scene of the shootings in London’s East End.


They arrived in Stepney by noon, with Eddie Marsh at his chief’s heels, both wearing heavy overcoats. It had been a cold night. Snowflakes fell gently but steadily on the helmets of the uniformed police who had already surrounded the house in Sidney Street. The Home Secretary and his assistant were greeted on arrival by a hail of bullets from automatic pistols that shot two more policemen dead.


Shootings in London were such a rarity that Britain’s police constables were not equipped with firearms on their regular patrols. All they had to protect the public and themselves was a wooden truncheon.


The fire brigade had been called out, but Winston restrained them from breaking in or they would certainly have all been shot dead. A plainclothes man from police headquarters at Scotland Yard, with a walrus moustache, stood by in an anonymous raincoat and a crushed Trilby hat. The scene was illuminated by gas lights as it grew darker. Now, in addition to the nineteen Scots Guardsmen, 31seven hundred and fifty uniformed policemen were called out. The guardsmen used a Maxim gun, and Winston agreed that a couple of field guns should be summoned from the Royal Horse Artillery depot in St John’s Wood. This was war!


At the first sign of the expected news photographers, Eddie concealed himself by edging behind his chief, to remain anonymous.


Winston knew he would inevitably be criticized by the opposition party as a publicity seeker, because of the unusual media coverage of the incident. He could imagine the eight-point type of the stop-press news at the bottom of the back page transferred into bold headlines as front page news in the evening edition. Nevertheless, he already knew more about the affair than the journalists and politicians who would criticize or ridicule him. And it evidently needed his military experience to direct the fire from the guardsmen against the gang of anarchists who had broken into the store. Someone had to restore law and order.


So far, neither the newspapers nor Parliament had any idea of the sudden rise in crimes and violence from outside sources and inside saboteurs, whereas Melville’s military security bureau and the police had kept the Home Secretary informed. ‘M’s secret agent, code-named Reilly, had infiltrated a whole variety of gangs of malcontents, subversives, and other troublemakers in Britain. The incident in Stepney was not just another commonplace burglary, but a counter-espionage matter that represented a watershed moment in English history.


The house finally caught fire and was burnt down. The so-called gang leader—whom the press named “Peter the Painter”—would turn out to be a secret undercover agent from Tsarist Russia’s Okhrana; most likely Peter Straume from Riga. He had infiltrated a group of anarchists and incited them to break in to the store in order to alert the police so that they could all be eliminated.


According to one newspaper report, the episode had begun when “police found a pistol, six hundred cartridges, one hundred and fifty Mauser bullets, and numerous ‘dangerous’ chemicals” in a Mr. Moroutzeff’s house in Gold Street. Although Straume was known to be connected, his defence counsel at the trial had him released on a matter of mistaken identity.


Winston knew from his own military and political experience that, while routine life continued without much change from day to day, as reported in the popular press, nothing was as it might seem on the printed page. It was not that the news was intentionally false, but that an undercurrent rippled quietly and unseen beneath the surface and influenced events in strange and unforeseen ways.


“A dark current,” Winston elaborated on for Eddie Marsh’s benefit after the fire had gutted the building. “Few people even know about it as they pursue their own self-absorbed interests.”


The worst difficulties from which Britain suffered—or so Winston expressed to 32his Private Secretary at the time—“do not come from outside the British Isles, they come from within. Our Intelligence reports show that such activities do not come from the homes of wage-earners, but from a peculiar type of subversive intellectual.”


“I always think intellectuals are so colourful.”


“That may be so, but they drain Britain of its strength.”


Active subversion by disloyal nationals, or their subversion by foreign spies, was the main reason why Winston had supported the secret gathering of useful information by Britain’s infant Secret Intelligence Bureau. Not only had he authorized wireless cryptography—which was something entirely new with the recent invention of the new wireless technology—he also obtained intelligence in any other way possible through the initiative, the special skills, and bravery of British secret service agents. One of them was William Melville’s new agent, whose detailed reports of subversion he read with special care. He knew the agent’s name was Reilly.


He had not yet met Reilly face-to-face, although he and Colonel Hozier had been instrumental in having him hired by Melville. And there was another individual who would have almost as much to do with the cataclysmic events that followed. The third man was a Social-Revolutionary in Russia named Boris Savinkov.


Savinkov was described by one of Britain’s secret agents as “the most remarkable man I have ever met. He has the prosperous looks of a lawyer, but is actually a terrorist. He organized several assassinations in Russia only six years ago. The first was Russia’s Minister of the Interior—a man named Plehve—and the Grand Duke Serge a year later.”


When Winston finally met Savinkov face-to-face for the first time, he would write of his first impression of the alleged assassin, “I had never seen a Russian Nihilist except on the stage, and my first impression was that he was singularly well cast for the part. Small in stature, moving as little as possible, and that noiselessly and with deliberation; remarkably grey-green eyes in a face of almost deathly pallor; speaking in a calm, low, even voice, almost a monotone; innumerable cigarettes . . . Savinkov’s whole life had been spent in conspiracy.”


Winston, Reilly, and Savinkov, were more or less the same age and had much in common, but were as different as the legendary “Three Musketeers.” They would have an extraordinary influence on world events when they finally met and agreed to support each other as comrades-in-arms.


What led to their combining their talents in a deliberate attempt to restore law and order in Britain’s suddenly chaotic society and political life, and also in international affairs, was the unexpected turnaround from public satisfaction in the restraint and orderliness of authority, to mass discontent and self-destructive disobedience of the laws. The Siege of Sidney Street was only one of the first symptoms of how the world had shrunk with the advent of the new industrial 33technologies—the telephone, the wireless, railroads, and steamships. Everyone’s problems were being dumped onto Britain’s lap; which meant the Home Office, the Foreign Office, the Colonial Office, the War Office, and the Admiralty.


Until then—as Winston explained to Eddie Marsh, as if dictating one of his history books on momentous affairs, as soon as they returned to Whitehall;


“Most English people felt they had reached acceptable solutions for the material problems of life. Our political principles had withstood every test. It was necessary only to apply them in an orderly fashion.”


He added almost wistfully while lighting up a new cigar; “It seemed that at last the world had escaped from barbarism, superstition, authoritarian tyrannies and wars. Naturally, there were plenty of differing opinions to quarrel about, but surely that should not affect the life or foundations of society? At least, that was what most of us thought.”


And yet, suddenly, as it seemed, forces of discontent arose from every quarter. It appeared that the very nature of industrialization was contrary to the spirit and way of life of free individuals. The stresses and strains of neglecting the more natural lifestyle of a rural society and an agricultural economy, suddenly set everyone at each other’s throats. Some said it was the result of increased densities of populations living check-by-jowl in ever-expanding cities. Whatever it was, opportunities for further advances in liberalism, wealth distribution, and living standards, now disappeared beneath the welter of complaints and subsequent turmoil, with a desperate need to restore law and order.


“Time,” Winston intoned somberly, as he puffed away steadily on his cigar, “with its tense spring and its clockwork mechanism, has suddenly reversed itself and retreated from hope, aspirations, and adventure, to the tribal envies and hatreds and dark superstitions of the barbaric past. Criminality is in the air that everyone breathes. I fear we will be dragged once again into a European war.”


[image: The image is a black and white photograph of a woman wearing a hat, with a bouquet of flowers in the background.]

Ethel Voynich, author of the best-selling novel in Russia, called The Gadfly, which they filmed.






Eddie knew enough not to interrupt his chief’s dramatic flow of words which translated his emotions into a global epic, without worrying too much whether he 34was exaggerating or not. Indeed, Eddie Marsh knew by now that his Chief loved war. He was a soldier and been trained for it.


[image: The image is a sepia-toned photograph of a group of men in military and/or police uniforms, including one man holding a rifle, standing in a street or alleyway.]

Winston Churchill in top hat at the Siege of Sidney Street.






“And now,” Winston informed Eddie with exasperation, “we have a bloody railway strike on our hands as well! The trade unions are determined to test our resolve in protecting the economy.”


‘It would be very interesting to know,” Eddie mused, “whether there is any German money behind all our troubles.”


Eddie now lived a life of contrasts between his chief’s solemn affairs of state and his own lighthearted entertainment with the Smart Set, dancing after-hours to all the new modern steps, like the “Turkey Trot.” Inspired by Eddie’s encouragement that “London is getting quite amusing,” and “Everyone is very pretty this year,” and audiences who returned again and again to a theatre where a new musical called Hullo Ragtime was playing, Winston wondered what he was missing by not socializing, and accompanied Eddie to a soirée.


In the parlance of their set, everything was “too wonderful!” But the small-talk was so full of tiresome clichés that they invented a game by standing in sight of the entrance to the ballroom and rated each young woman for her beauty as she 35came in. Their scoring was based on Marlowe’s quotation; “Was this the face that launched a thousand ships, and burnt the topless towers of Ilium?”


Eddie would say grudgingly, “I wouldn’t even launch a hundred little fishing boats for her,” or “Only a small gunboat for that one, my dear!”


The beauty of only two women warranted their full thousand ships that night. They were the greatly admired and envied beauty Lady Diana Manners, and Colonel Sir Henry Hozier’s adopted daughter, Clementine. Clementine was a tall and slender young woman with startling blue eyes and bright red hair. She would have been an ideal model for one of Botticelli’s lovely redheads who repeatedly appeared in his paintings. Unknown at the time by Winston, his mother had invited Clementine as a suitable wife for her restless son. When introduced to her at dinner, Winston—who always had so much to say for himself—was suddenly struck dumb.


Marsh had already met Lady Randolph Churchill at Blenheim and, like everyone else, adored her. Now, when he accompanied his chief to Malta, to sort out two bickering Orthodox archbishops demanding union with Greece, she wrote him a personal little note; “Look after my Winston—he is very precious to me.”


[image: The image is a black and white portrait of a man with a mustache, wearing a suit and tie, in front of a wall.]

Boris Savinkov. former Assistant War Minister in Imperial Russia’s provisional government under Kerensky before the October Revolution.
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7 The Fox Knows Many Things



The ruling classes throughout Europe were apprehensive of change, unlike the self-made men of the newly-created United States, who knew how to initiate changes to their advantage and the best way to exploit them. The reason why Britain’s leading wealthy families still qualified for leadership in government was because they were not influenced by the taint of sordid ambition and greed that drew others to political life. The English milords were still popular, for a little while longer at least, because they believed in honor, service, and duty.


That was the background to the arrival of Sidney Reilly, who began to operate as a paid spy infiltrating society on behalf of Britain’s Secret Service, to discover what was happening to subvert it at home and undermine British power overseas.


From the shabby but respectable neighborhood of Bromley in London, for example, the exiled anarchist, Count Peter Kropotkin, claimed, “The progress of mankind is being held back by those who have a vested interest in the existing system. War or revolution is needed to galvanize people out of their ruts and on to new roads.”


His view was shared by the revolutionary Bulkanin, who said, “I have drawn up a little list of undesirables we should do away with. It includes priests, monarchs, statesmen, soldiers, officials, financiers, capitalists, money lenders, and lawyers.”


Every rebel had his own list of victims for execution the moment he achieved power. It was spoofed by The Doyley Carte Opera Company, which gave repeat performances of the popular Gilbert and Sullivan comic opera called The Mikado. In it, Ko-Ko the executioner gleefully persuaded audiences that “there will be no difficulty in finding plenty of people whose loss will be a distinct gain to society at large.”


He assured everyone, “I’ve got a little list! And they’ll none of them be missed.”


Audiences roared with happy laughter, not realising the seriousness of the situation, while dissatisfied rebels, anarchists and revolutionaries waited in anticipation for the birth of a new order when their wishes could come true. It commenced with the death of Queen Victoria on January 22, 1901.


It was a time when the sharp eyes and even sharper wits of Sidney Reilly were carefully studying the appearances and motivations of England’s ruling classes, as well as the rebels and anarchists, the revolutionaries and terrorists, and other malcontents working quietly underground to undermine Britain.


As Home Secretary, Winston knew that London’s anarchists were mostly Russians, Poles, Italians, and other exiles from their own countries which were in 37turmoil. But Eddie was appalled—this was not his England.


“But where do they live? Where do they go? I never see them. What do they do?”


“Of course, you won’t have heard of the Autonomie Club” in Windmill Street. Bourdin—that anarchist who blew himself up with his bomb by accident in Greenwich Park—frequented the Autonomie. Others live in poverty in Whitechapel and the poorer neighbourhoods in the East End, like Stepney.”


“My dear, how do you know that?”


Winston smiled archly over his cigar. “I have my spies.”


“No, really?”


“Eddie, my dear boy, there are at least two anarchist magazines published openly. As well as Kropotkin’s Le Révolté, there’s The Torch, and Freedom.”


“I’ve never been sure of the difference between anarchists and socialists,” Eddie admitted with bemusement.


“Nor are most people. Anarchism’s one advantage over Socialism is thought to be that it is not authoritarian. They are protesting against authority, Eddie. Fortunately, most Britons prefer our splendid isolation from Europe to continue by avoiding the meaningless ideologies of romantic and unpractical foreign intellectuals, God damn them all!”


“That’s my impression too,” his Private Secretary agreed cautiously. “Surely the working classes can’t want to lose a system that allows them to be free and live in relative comfort. Ours is far superior to any society on the Continent.”


“Yes, you would imagine they realize it took centuries of struggle to improve and achieve our success. But who knows what goes on in their minds? It certainly doesn’t prevent them from complaining and protesting they are entitled to more and more. But that’s the human condition for you, Eddie, people are naturally greedy. And since we are a democratic nation, we must respect their vices as well as their virtues, and try not to be too judgmental.”


Perhaps the most annoyed at the complacency of the English in their splendid isolation were their former English colonists in North America who had fought their own revolution to become a separate breed. The English ruling classes watched the antics that democracy had brought about there since the American Revolution, and feared the same thing might happen in Britain.


“Democracy is a very tricky system.” Eddie remarked thoughtfully. “It appears to be just another name for mob rule.”


“Ah,” Winston said with a wicked smile, “but Speaker Reed in the United States has recognized that American politicians would be wise to give the majority what they want in order to stay in power. That is the subtle difference between mob rule and Parliamentary Democracy.”


38




The British public knew nothing about the ongoing undermining of their nation by foreign spies. Nor did they know of the clandestine activities of their own secret service. Instead, they read persuasive and scary fiction that appeared in bookstores, like England’s Peril: A Story of the Secret Service by novelist William Le Queux, and Kim by Rudyard Kipling, which was considered to be one of the greatest spy stories ever told. The Riddle of the Sands featured heroic young British Army officers always ready for a lark, a bit of adventure, or a stake in heroism and a medal to prove it. It predicted a German invasion of the British Isles with grim reality, compared with typical popular adventure novels of the times.


Public alarm caused former Lord of the Admiralty, Lord Selborne, to say, “We must look into the possibility. I want a report to see if such a plot is actually feasible.”


British agents were sent to examine the Frisian coast, in case it turned out to be a launching venue for German troopships. Their report confirmed that the Frisian Islands and Borkum were located off of the north coast of Germany, more or less opposite the outlet from the Kiel Canal, where it entered the North Sea to face the east coast of Britain. But neither Naval Intelligence (NID) nor Military Intelligence (MID) considered that there was a real threat of invasion by German troops.


Despite that, the ageing British military hero, Field Marshal Lord Roberts, warned, “Britain is not ready for war.”


He called for conscription. Alfred Harmsworth who owned Britain’s first mass circulation newspaper, the Daily Mail, agreed with his sentiments. Harmsworth believed in stirring up friction between opposing views. “People buy newspapers when they get angry,” he explained to Le Queux, and paid him to write an invasion serial called “The Invasion of 1910.”


“Make sure you provide enough facts to make your story seem realistic,” he advised him.


Le Queux and Oppenheim managed to stir up war hysteria in Britain at the very moment when the German Kaiser really did begin planning and organizing an arms race in preparation for war against France, Russia and England.


Although the German spy hysteria was not nearly as widespread or effective as the novelists and journalists claimed, the threat from Germany turned out to be a real and insane desire to conquer the world. The key to world power at the time was thought to be by achieving supremacy in controlling the high seas.
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8 A Race for Naval Supremacy



Britain was still the major naval power in the world. But the Kaiser was determined to compete by copying the plans of the new British Dreadnought class of battleships, and adding additional German innovations to modernize and enlarge the German Fleet.


“Why would he want to do that?” young Eddie March had asked his chief. “It makes no sense.”


Prussian power always came from its well drilled and disciplined army. Its enemies were not seagoing nations, but landsmen living across the other side of its frontiers.


Winston grinned in reply. “Because he’s an emperor. It’s his duty to assert the importance of the German Empire. Bismarck taught him that if he wants to keep the love and admiration of his subjects, he must be their champion.”


Eddie gazed at him in amazement. “You mean international politics can be reduced to the whims and notions of one man?”


“The short answer, dear Eddie, is yes. And I agree that to be in the hands of one man is not a nice thought, in spite of his admiration for us. You see, Willi is convinced we mean to do him harm.”


“And do we?”


“Of course!” Winston said with a mischievous smirk. “The King can’t stand him. We have just upped our order for new Dreadnought battleships from four to eight.”


Despite his composure, lack of solid intelligence information gnawed at Winston. When Major Edmonds became head of MO5, which ran the ‘Special Section’ of the War Office, he had discovered that its records contained only a few irrelevant documents about the South African War, some scraps about France and Russia, but absolutely nothing about Germany.


The admiralty had employed only three or four secret agents a couple of years back, and now searched for agents to spy on Germany. They also began modernizing the Secret Service. It was divided at first into military and naval sections, with Major William Thwaites heading up a German section at the War Office. But, significantly, the few German spies who were detained in England were interested only in naval espionage. German military intelligence functioned in France and Russia but had no spy ring in Britain, and no plans for wartime sabotage. But the German Navy did.


“Why?” Eddie wanted to know.


“Their reason,” Winston patiently explained to his Private Secretary, “is Admiral 40Mahan’s book, The Influence of Sea Power on History. It gave the Kaiser the notion that Germany’s destiny lies in controlling the seas.”
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